

FACTORS INFLUENCING THE ADOPTION AND EFFECTIVENESS OF ONLINE TRAINING PROGRAM ON FEMALE FACULTY MEMBERS COMPETENCIES IN SAUDI ARABIAN PUBLIC UNIVERSITIES

HOMOUD FREH ALHAIDAN

GSM 2020 6



FACTORS INFLUENCING THE ADOPTION AND EFFECTIVENESS OF ONLINE TRAINING PROGRAM ON FEMALE FACULTY MEMBERS COMPETENCIES IN SAUDI ARABIAN PUBLIC UNIVERSITIES

By
HOMOUD FREH ALHAIDAN

Thesis Submitted to the Putra Business School, in Fulfilment of the Requirements for the Degree of Doctor of Philosophy

COPYRIGHT

All material contained within the thesis, including without limitation text, logos, icons, photographs, and all other artwork, is copyright material of Universiti Putra Malaysia unless otherwise stated. Use may be made of any material contained within the thesis for non-commercial purposes from the copyright holder. Commercial use of material may only be made with the express, prior, written permission of Universiti Putra Malaysia.

Copyright © Universiti Putra Malaysia



Abstract of thesis presented to the Senate of Universiti Putra Malaysia in fulfilment of the requirement for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy

FACTORS INFLUENCING THE ADOPTION AND EFFECTIVENESS OF ONLINE TRAINING PROGRAM ON FEMALE FACULTY MEMBERS COMPETENCIES IN SAUDI ARABIAN PUBLIC UNIVERSITIES

By

HOMOUD FREH ALHAIDAN

January 2020

Chairman : Associate Professor Dr. Amer Hamzah B Jantan, PhD

Faculty : Putra Business School

A good number of researchers have demonstrated the need for online training for the faculty members in various countries around the world in recent years. However, most of these academic researchers have discussed the different effects of the online training system. Conversely, the need for online training for female faculty members in Saudi Arabia has not been adequately measured, which is culturally very diverse and unique. Thus, empirical evidence is clearly lacking and needs to be studied. There is also no conclusive model for Saudi Arabian educational industry yet exists. As gender inequity remains an unsolved issue in Saudi Arabia, thus, this research is undertaken to realise the need to examine the need for the online training program (OTP) for Saudi women faculty members closely. Therefore, this research aims to determine the factors influencing the adoption of the online training program and its effectiveness for the female faculty members in Saudi Arabian public universities. At the beginning of the study, issues were identified, goals and objectives were set, and a detailed review of the literature was conducted to identify the variables for this study. The theoretical foundation of this research is based on Ajzen's Theory of Planned Behavior (TPB) and Venkatesh and Davis's Technology Acceptance Model (TAM). Besides, in this study, "social influence" has been added as a dependent variable as well as "competitive pressure" and "government regulations" were added as moderator that signifies the theoretical extansion of this study. For this research, primary data has been collected from female faculty members working in different Saudi Arabian public universities using simple random sampling method.

A self-administered closed-ended questionnaire was utilised to collect data from 228 randomly selected respondents. Before actual data collection, a pilot study was conducted on a small sample group of female faculty members to clarify the statement of the survey questionnaire. Finally, PLS-SEM was used to run the analysis. The

findings show that perceived ease of use, perceived usefulness, perceived relative advantage, and social influence has a significant positive relationship with adoption of OTP and effectiveness of OTP. However, the variable "perceived trust" was not statistically significant. Besides, the testing of two new moderating variables (competitive pressure and government regulations) has also confirmed that these two variables significantly influence the relationship between adoption of OTP and effectiveness of OTP for the female faculty members working in different Saudi Arabian public universities. This statistical significance has provided new light for future consideration.

This study has significantly contributed to the theoretical enhancement of the online training program (OTP) theory by adding "social influence" factor in the context of the adoption of the online training program. Hence, this eventually extends the understanding of the current model and opens a new direction for further investigation. This finding will further facilitate future policy development for Saudi Arabia's education industry by offering better employment opportunities for the female workforce. It can also function as an essential guideline for universities to enhance employee motivation and conjointly to retain staff with high potential and talent within the setting of the Kingdom of Saudi Arabia. Finally, study limitations are discussed, and future study directions are proposed.

Abstrak tesis yang dikemukakan kepada Senat Universiti Putra Malaysia sebagai memenuhi keperluan untuk ijazah Doktor Falsafah

FAKTOR-FAKTOR YANG MEMPENGARUHI PERLAKSANAAN DAN KEBERKESANAN PROGRAM LATIHAN DALAM TALIAN TERHADAP KOMPETENSI ANGGOTA FAKULTI WANITA DI UNIVERSITI AWAM ARAB SAUDI

Oleh

HOMOUD FREH ALHAIDAN

Januari 2020

Pengerusi : Profesor Madya Dr. Amer Hamzah B Jantan, PhD

Fakulti : Putra Business School

Sebilangan besar penyelidik telah menunjukkan keperluan untuk latihan dalam talian bagi ahli fakulti di pelbagai negara di seluruh dunia beberapa tahun kebelakangan ini. Namun, kebanyakan penyelidik akademik tersebut membincangkan kesan yang berbeza tentang hasil sistem latihan dalam talian. Walau bagaimanapun, keperluan untuk latihan dalam talian bagi ahli fakulti wanita di Arab Saudi tidak dinilai sebaiknya sesuai dengan budaya mereka yang pelbagai dan unik. Justeru, bukti empirikal jelas kekurangan dan perlu dikaji. Selain itu, model konklusif untuk industri pendidikan Arab Saudi juga masih belum wujud. Oleh kerana ketidaksamarataan jantina masih merupakan isu yang belum selesai di Arab Saudi, justeru, kajian ini dijalankan bagi merealisasikan perlaksanaan program latihan dalam talian (OTP) untuk ahli fakulti wanita Saudi dengan teliti. Kajian ini bertujuan untuk mengenalpasti faktor-faktor yang mempengaruhi perlaksanaan program latihan dalam talian dan keberkesanannya terhadap ahli-ahli fakulti wanita di universiti awam Arab Saudi. Pada permulaan kajian, isu-isu dikenalpasti, matlamat dan objektif ditetapkan dan kajian literatur terperinci telah dijalankan bagi mengenal pasti pembolehubah kajian ini. Asas teori penyelidikan ini adalah berdasarkan Teori Tingkah Laku Terancang (TPB) Ajzen dan Model Penerimaan Teknologi Venkatesh dan Davis (TAM).

Di samping itu, pengaruh social telah ditambah sebagai pembolehubah bersandar selain tekanan persaingan dan peraturan kerajaan sebagai moderator yang menandakan pengembangan teori kajian ini. Untuk kajian ini, data primer telah dikumpulkan daripada ahli fakulti wanita yang bekerja di universiti awam Arab Saudi yang berbeza menggunakan kaedah persampelan rawak mudah. Borang soal selidik tertutup telah digunakan untuk mengumpul data daripada 228 responden yang dipilih secara rawak. Sebelum pengumpulan data sebenar, satu kajian rintis telah dijalankan

ke atas sekumpulan kecil ahli fakulti wanita untuk menjelaskan pernyataan borang kaji selidik. Akhirnya, PLS-SEM digunakan untuk menjalankan analisis. Hasil kajian menunjukkan bahawa tanggapan mudah guna, tanggapan kebergunaan, tanggapan kelebihan relatif dan pengaruh sosial mempunyai hubungan yang signifikan dengan perlaksanaan OTP dan keberkesanan OTP. Walau bagaimanapun, pemboleh ubah tanggapan kepercayaan tidak signifikan. Selain itu, ujian bagi dua pemboleh ubah moderator (tekanan persaingan dan peraturan kerajaan) juga telah mengesahkan bahawa kedua-dua pemboleh ubah ini secara signifikan mempengaruhi hubungan antara penggunaan OTP dan keberkesanan OTP terhadap ahli fakulti wanita yang bekerja di universiti awam Arab Saudi yang berbeza. Statistik yang signifikan ini telah memberikan harapan baru kepada pertimbangan akan datang.

Kajian ini telah menyumbang secara signifikan kepada perkembangan teori bagi program latihan dalam talian (OTP) dengan menambahkan faktor "pengaruh sosial" dalam konteks perlaksanaan program latihan dalam talian. Justeru, ia meluaskan pemahaman model semasa dan membuka jalan baru untuk penyelidikan selanjutnya. Dapatan kajian ini akan membantu dalam merangka polisi akan datang bagi industri pendidikan Arab Saudi dengan menawarkan peluang pekerjaan yang lebih baik kepada tenaga kerja wanita. Ia juga dapat berfungsi sebagai panduan penting bagi universiti dalam meningkatkan motivasi pekerja dan bersama-sama mengekalkan staf dengan bakat dan potensi yang tinggi bagi Kerajaan Arab Saudi. Akhirnya, batasan kajian dibincangkan dan arah kajian masa depan dicadangkan.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

I give praise to My Glory Allah for, without His guidance and the strength and patience He has bestowed upon me, this study entitled "Factors Influencing Adoption and Effectiveness of Online Training Program on Female Faculty Members Competencies in Saudi Arabian Public Universities" would not have been successfully completed.

Success is not how quickly we reach the top; it is how quickly we bounce back when we hit bottom. I would like to thank my father, Freh Alhaidan, who encouraged me to education and taught me the meaning of faith and hard work.

During my PhD study, I have also been away from my mother, and here I would like to thank my dearest beloved mother, Monerh Alhaidan, who I learned from her the meaning of passion and patience.

I am truly grateful and indebted to my wife, Adeem Alsaaid, for her patience during my PhD journey and for the encouragement that she has always bestowed unto me. I would like to thank her from the bottom of my heart.

I am grateful to my family, especially my daughter, Alaroub, my son Abdulaziz, my brother Ahmed, and my sisters Marem, Mashael, Maha, Asma, Ashwaq and Amjad for being busy and away from All of them.

Sincere gratitude and thanks are due to my supervisor, Dr Amer Hamzah. His sage advice, insightful criticisms and valued comments and suggestions have added enormous value to the quality of the study.

I certify that a Thesis Examination Committee has met on 8 January 2020 to conduct the final examination of Homoud Freh Alhaidan on his thesis entitled "Factors Influencing the Adoption and Effectiveness of Online Training Program on Female Faculty Members competencies in Saudi Arabian Public Universities" in accordance with the Universities and University Colleges Act 1971 and the Constitution of the Universiti Putra Malaysia [P.U.(A) 106] 15 March 1998. The Committee recommends that the student be awarded the Doctor of Philosophy.

Members of the Thesis Examination Committee were as follows:

Lailawati Mohd Salleh, PhD

Associate Professor Putra Business School (Chairman)

Ismi Ariff Ismail, PhD

Associate Professor
Faculty of Educational Studies
Universiti Putra Malaysia
(Internal Examiner)

Nurhizam Safie Mohd Satar, PhD

Associate Professor
Faculty of Information Science & Technology
Universiti Kebangsaan Malaysia
(Internal Examiner)

Seng Kiat Kok, PhD

Liverpool Business School Liverpool John Moores University (External Examiner)

PROF. Ts. Dr. M. IQBAL SARIPAN

Deputy Vice Chancellor (Academic & International) Universiti Putra Malaysia

Date:

On behalf of, Putra Business School This thesis was submitted to the Senate of the Universiti Putra Malaysia and has been accepted as fulfilment of the requirement for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy. The members of the Supervisory Committee were as follows:

Amer Hamzah B Jantan, PhD

Associate Professor School of Business and Economics Universiti Putra Malaysia Chairman

Noor Azman Ali, PhD

Professor School of Business and Economics Universiti Putra Malaysia (Member)

Abdul Rashid Abdullah, PhD

Senior Lecturer
School of Business and Economics
Universiti Putra Malaysia
(Member)

PROF. Ts. Dr. M. IQBAL SARIPAN

Deputy Vice Chancellor (Academic & International) Universiti Putra Malaysia

Date:

On behalf of, Putra Business School

Declaration by graduate student

I hereby confirm that:

- this thesis is my original work;
- quotations, illustrations and citations have been duly referenced;
- this thesis has not been submitted previously or concurrently for any other degree at any institutions;
- intellectual property from the thesis and copyright of thesis are fully-owned by Universiti Putra Malaysia, as according to the Universiti Putra Malaysia (Research) Rules 2012;
- written permission must be obtained from supervisor and the office of Deputy Vice-Chancellor (Research and innovation) before thesis is published (in the form of written, printed or in electronic form) including books, journals, modules, proceedings, popular writings, seminar papers, manuscripts, posters, reports, lecture notes, learning modules or any other materials as stated in the Universiti Putra Malaysia (Research) Rules 2012;
- there is no plagiarism or data falsification/fabrication in the thesis, and scholarly integrity is upheld as according to the Universiti Putra Malaysia (Graduate Studies) Rules 2003 (Revision 2012-2013) and the Universiti Putra Malaysia (Research) Rules 2012. The thesis has undergone plagiarism detection software.

Signature:	Date: _	
C		

Name and Matric No: Homoud Freh Alhaidan, PBS1424847

Declaration by Members of Supervisory Committee

This is to confirm that:

- the research conducted and the writing of this thesis was under our supervision;
- supervision responsibilities as stated in the Putra Business School (Graduate Studies) Rules 2003 (Revision 2012-2013) were adhered to.

Chairman of Supervisory Committee

Signature Name Faculty	: Associate Professor Dr. Amer Hamzah B Jantar : School of Business and Economics, UPM
Members of	Supervisory Committee
Signature Name Faculty	: Professor Dr. Noor Azman Ali : School of Business and Economics, UPM
Signature Name Faculty	:

TABLE OF CONTENTS

			Page
	<i>AK</i> OWLEI	OGEMENTS	i iii V
APPRO			Vi
DECLA			viii
LIST O			xiv
LIST O	F FIGU	JRES	xvi
CILADI	TED		
CHAPT	LK		
1	INTD	RODUCTION	1
1			
	1.1	Background of the Study	1
	1.2	Gender Separation and the Need for Online Training	2
	1.0	Programme in Saudi Arabia	2
	1.3	Problem Statement	4
	1.4	Research Questions	7
	1.5	Research Objectives	8
	1.6	Significance of the Study	8
		1.6.1 Methodological Significance	9
		1.6.2 Empirical Significance	9
		1.6.3 Theoretical Significance	9
		1.6.4 Practical Significance	9
	1.7	Scope of the Research	10
	1.8	Key Definitions	10
		1.8.1 Perceived Ease of Use	10
		1.8.2 Perceived Usefulness	10
		1.8.3 Perceived Relative Advantage	11
		1.8.4 Perceived Trust	11
		1.8.5 Social Influence	11
		1.8.6 Competitive Pressure	11
		1.8.7 Government Regulation	11
		1.8.8 Online Training Programs	11
	1.9	Organization of the Thesis	11
	1.10	Chapter Summary	12
	1.10	Chapter Summary	12
2	LITE	CRATURE REVIEW	13
4	2.1	Introduction	13
	2.1	Theoretical Foundation	13
	4.4	2.2.1 Technology Acceptance Model (TAM)	13
			15
		J	13
		2.2.3 Decomposed Theory of Planned Behaviour	17
	2.2	(DTPB)	17
	2.3	Adoption of Online Training Program (AOTP)	20

	2.4	Factors Influencing the Adoption of Online Training	
		Program	23
		-	23
		· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	26
		· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	29
			31
		· /	34
	2.5	· /	35
	2.6		37
	2.7		38
	2.,	2.7.1 Relationship between Perceived Ease of Use (PEU)	,
		<u> </u>	39
		2.7.2 Relationship between Perceived Usefulness (PU)	,,
		1	39
		2.7.3 Relationship between Perceived Relative	,,
		Advantages and Adoption of Online Training	
			40
		2.7.4 Relationship between Perceived Trust (PT) and	+U
			40
		2.7.5 Relationship between Social Influence (SI) and	+U
			41
			+1
			41
			+1
		2.7.7 Relationship between Adoption of Online Training Program and Effectiveness of Online Training	
			41
			+1 42
			+∠
			42
	2.8		+2 43
	2.0	Chapter Summary	+3
3	MET	THODOLOGY	44
3			14 44
	3.1		14 45
	3.2	4.4	+5 45
	2.2	E	
	3.3	C .	46 47
		•	
		, , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , ,	48
		7 I	48
		7 1	48 40
		1 &	49 50
		±	50 51
			51
			54 - 1
			54 - 1
			54
			55 5 -
			55
		3.3.13 Items to Measure Adoption of OTP	55

		3.3.14 Items to Measure Effectiveness of OTP	55
		3.3.15 Items to Measure Competitive Pressure	56
		3.3.16 Items to Measure Government Regulations	56
	3.4	Pre-Test and Item Modification	57
		3.4.1 Reliability of the Questionnaire	58
		3.4.2 Validity of the Measurement Scale	58
	3.5	Partial Least Square - Structural Equation Modelling (PLS-	
		SEM)	59
	3.6	Handling Blank Responses	59
	3.7	Data Coding	60
	3.8	Data Analysis	60
		3.8.1 Justification for Using PLS-SEM	61
	3.9	Ethical considerations	62
	3.10	Chapter Summary	62
4	DAT	A ANALYSIS AND RESULTS	63
	4.1	Introduction	63
	4.2	Descriptive Analysis	63
		4.2.1 Background Information of the Respondents	63
		4.2.2 Descriptive Statistics of the Variables	65
	4.3	Preliminary Analysis	66
		4.3.1 Missing Values	66
		4.3.2 Outlier	68
		4.3.3 Common Method Variance	68
	4.4	Measurement Modelling	69
	4.5	Assessment of Structural Model	73
		4.5.1 Mediation Testing (Indirect Effect)	78
		4.5.2 Moderation Effect	79
	4.6	Chapter Summary	84
5	DISC	CUSSION, RECOMMENDATION AND CONCLUSION	85
	5.1	Introduction	85
	5.2	Discussion on the Findings of the Study	85
		5.2.1 There is a significant and positive relationship	
		between perceived ease of use and adoption of the	
		online training program	87
		5.2.2 There is a significant and positive relationship	
		between perceived usefulness and adoption of the	
		online training program	88
		5.2.3 There is a significant and positive relationship	
		between perceived relative advantage and adoption	
		of the online training program	88
		5.2.4 There is a significant and positive relationship	
		between perceived trust and adoption of the online	
		training program	89
		5.2.5 There is a significant and positive relationship	
		between social influence and adoption of the online	
		training program	89

	5.2.6	There is a significant and positive relationship between perceived ease of use and perceived	0.0
	5.2.7	usefulness There is a significant positive relationship between	90
		the adoption of online training program and the effectiveness of the online training program	90
	5.2.8	There is a significant and positive relationship	
		between perceived ease of use and the adoption of the online training program mediated by perceived usefulness	91
	5.2.9	There is a significant and positive relationship between perceived ease of use and effectiveness of online training programme mediated by the	
		adoption of the online training program	91
	5.2.10		
		adoption of the online training program	92
	5.2.11	There is a significant and positive relationship	
		between perceived relative advantage and	
		effectiveness of online training programme	
		mediated by the adoption of the online training program	92
	5.2.12	There is a significant and positive relationship)2
	3.2.12	between perceived trust and effectiveness of online	
		training programme mediated by the adoption of the	
		online training program	93
	5.2.13		
		between social influence and effectiveness of online	
		training programme mediated by the adoption of the online training program	93
	5.2.14	Competitive pressure moderates the relationship	
		between the adoption of training program and the	
		effectiveness of online training program	94
	5.2.15	Government regulations moderate the relationship	
		between the adoption of training program and the	94
5.3	Implies	effectiveness of online training program ations of the Study	95
5.5	5.3.1	Theoretical Implication	95
	5.3.2	Methodological Implication	96
	5.3.3	Empirical Implication	96
	5.3.4	Practical Implication	97
5.4		tion and Future Direction	97
5.5	Conclu	sion	98
REFERENC	CES		100
APPENDIC			119
BIODATA ()F STUI	DENT	129

LIST OF TABLES

Table		Page
1.1	Middle East Internet Users Statistics 2016	3
2.1	Summary of the Theories	19
2.2	Key Findings of Adoption of Online Training Program	22
2.3	Key Findings of Perceived Ease of Use	26
2.4	Key Findings of Perceived Usefulness	29
2.5	Key Findings of Perceived Relative Advantage	31
2.6	Key Findings of Perceived Trust	33
2.7	Key Findings of Social Influence	35
2.8	Key Findings of Effectiveness of OTP	37
3.1	Faculty Members by Educational Body and Scientific Rank for the Academic Year 2015-2016	49
3.2	Table for Determining Sample Size	51
3.3	Scales of Measurement	53
3.4	Items to Measure Perceived Ease of Use	54
3.5	Items to Measure Perceived Usefulness	54
3.6	Items to Measure Perceived Relative Advantage	54
3.7	Items to Measure Perceived Trust	55
3.8	Items to Measure Social Influence	55
3.9	Items to Measure Adoption of OTP	55
3.10	Items to Measure Effectiveness of OTP	56
3.11	Items to Measure Competitive Pressure	56
3.12	Items to Measure Government Regulations	56
3.13	Demographic Profile for Pilot Study	57
3.14	Reliability Statistics for Pilot Study	57

3.15	PLS-SEM Rule of Thumb	61
4.1	Respondents' Profile	64
4.2	Descriptive Statistics of the Variables	65
4.3	Missing and Extreme Value Patterns ^a	67
4.4	Total Variance Explained	68
4.5	Rule of Thumb for Reliability and Validity	69
4.6	Measurement Model Evaluation	70
4.7	Discriminant Validity (Heterotrait-Monotrait Ratio - HTMT)	72
4.8	PLS-SEM Rule of Thumb	74
4.9	Collinearity Assessment (VIF Values)	74
4.10	Path Coefficient and Hypothesis Testing (Direct Effect)	75
4.11	Coefficient of Determination (R ²)	75
4.12	Effect Size (f^2)	76
4.13	Predictive Relevance (Q2)	76
4.14	Fit Summary	77
4.15	Total Effects (Indirect Effect)	79
4.16	Moderation Effect	81
4.17	Summary of Hypotheses Results	83

LIST OF FIGURES

Figure	e	Page
2.1	Final Version of Technology Acceptance Model (TAM)	14
2.2	Theory of Planed Behaviour (TPB)	16
2.3	Decomposed Theory of Planned Behaviour (DTPB)	18
2.4	Proposed Framework for the Study	38
3.1	Outline of the Research Procedure	44
4.1	Measurement Model of the Study	73
4.2	Structural Model (After Bootstrapping)	78
4.3	Moderation Effects of Competitive Pressure and Government Regulations	80
4.4	Interaction Effects of Competitive Pressure and Adoption of OTP on Effectiveness of OTP	81
4.5	Interaction Effects of Government Regulations and Adoption of OTP on Effectiveness of OTP	82

CHAPTER 1

INTRODUCTION

1.1 Background of the Study

From a historical period until the modern-day, the issue of gender differences has attained much attention from academicians and researchers in the arena of leadership and organisational behaviour. Over the years, men and women have been continuously compared to each other, may it be in the way they interact, carry out their duties or influence their subordinates (Findlow, 2007). Such differences have evidenced to be highly detrimental to women. The influence of these differences can still be experienced in the modern era of the twenty-first century in different regions of the world (Abouchedid & Eid, 2014). Even though women have been immensely successful in various disciplines such as politics, education, humanities as well as business, they are still perceived negatively by many when it comes to holding top organisational positions (Findlow, 2013). Even though there has been a substantial increase in the number of female workforces, they are still underrepresented in the top management despite possessing the required qualifications and potentials (Al Lily, 2013; Al Lily, Borovoi & Vlaev, 2016).

Surprisingly, the traits for which women were disadvantaged and looked down upon are required in order to lead organisations in this twenty-first century (Birkinshaw & Mark, 2015). The belief that men are better for undertaking leadership roles is a result of mere stereotype perceptions. Therefore, in current time, organisations need women as much as they believe that they need men to run the top managerial positions (Al Lily & Foland, 2013; Hamdan, 2018). This belief has heightened due to the rapid development in the ICT sector, which has created the demand for the education industry to adopt the new concept of online teaching and learning. This leads towards the introduction of online training for the female faculty member in various universities mostly in the Middle Eastern countries where male dominance still exists. Online training is a part of online learning (E-learning) that can help the female faculty members in those male-dominated societies to transfer their knowledge towards performance improvement for better task accomplishment (Brown & Lease, 2009). Hence, online training has become one of the most popular alternative media that can be used in order to develop and increase female faculty members' skills and competencies (Haidar, 2012).

However, lack of knowledge and skills among the female faculty members on how to use online media remain as the main obstacle these days (McMenomy, 2010). Besides, the lack of experience in selecting the right online training materials by the person in charge also creates obstacles towards selecting appropriate online training for the employees (McMenomy, Hill & Dubose, 2010). Furthermore, in many cases, the person fails to contemplate the environment of the training condition when selecting a training solution (McMenomy et al., 2010).

In recent years, the massive development in the ICT sector has boosted the demand for online teaching and learning that attracts a good number of students to opt this medium for furthering their studies (National Centre for Education Statistics, 2013). To cope with this increasing demand, many institutions around the globe offer online courses to these students (Allen & Seaman, 2013). However, lack of experience on how to incorporate the online system into teaching among the faculty members necessitates further demand for training (Palloff & Pratt, 2011; Rhode & Krishnamurthi, 2016). Therefore, it is important to incorporate a new pedagogical system that will enhance the overall teaching-learning process.

It is an also very essential for the top management of the educational institutions to assist female faculty members towards understanding the current needs and therefore upgrading their skills based on their culture, needs, and economic conditions of their country (Palloff & Pratt, 2011). This will further support them towards integrating the new online teaching method into their teaching style (Titan et al., 2014). As such, the proper support system should be established to backing the female (Allen & Seaman, 2014; Brown et al., 1999; Rhode & Krishnamurthi, 2016).

1.2 Gender Separation and the Need for Online Training Programme in Saudi Arabia

Saudi Arabia is a very conservative country, both socially and religiously (Metz, 1992). An enormous obstacle exists for the women in Saudi Arabia as they are not able to do anything without the permission of their male authority (Aarts, 2004; Sultan et al., 2012). Due to this reason, it is difficult for the government to ensure proper education for women (Al Lily, 2011). Besides, many extreme cultural beliefs among Saudi Arabian male authorities such as the belief that woman should not drive cars or practice Law or Engineering have created further obstacles for women to get a proper education (Alenezi, Abdulkarim & Veloo, 2010). Moreover, women's activities are insufficient within their surroundings and are not welcomed to participate in the wider social activities in Saudi Arabia (Al-Asmari & Khan, 2014). Currently, in terms of women participation in the workplace, Saudi Arabia has one of the lowest, particularly from graduates (Alotaibi, 2015; Binsahl & Chang, 2012). However, the participation is essential to keep pace with this modern world as many women are much qualified and able to work better than men (Alhareth, Alhareth & Dighrir, 2015; Al Sudairy, 2007). Therefore, the Saudi Arabian government needs to reform the current societal beliefs if they want to achieve their development goal (Wynbrandt, 2010).

According to Internet World Stats (2016), the total population of Saudi Arabia is 32.16 million. This population consists of the generation "Y" and accounting almost 50% of the total population (Alqahtani, 2016). However, the use of the Internet is relatively low (only 14.7%) comparing to other neighbouring countries (Internet World Stats, 2016), as shown in Table 1.1 below. Though the Internet penetration rate is almost 65%, however, due to many internal issues such as gender separation, social interaction, freedom of choice by women, the user's number is too low (Evosys, 2015).

Table 1.1: Middle East Internet Users Statistics 2016

Country	Population (2016 Est.)	Users, in Dec-2000	Internet Usage Jun-2016	% Population (Penetration)	Internet % users
Bahrain	1,378,904	40,000	1,278,752	92.70%	0.90%
Iran	82,801,633	250,000	56,700,000	68.50%	40.10%
Iraq	37,547,686	12,500	14,000,000	37.30%	9.90%
Israel	8,174,527	1,270,000	5,941,174	72.70%	4.20%
Jordan	7,747,800	127,300	5,700,000	73.60%	4.00%
Kuwait	4,007,145	150,000	3,202,110	79.90%	2.30%
Lebanon	5,988,153	300,000	4,545,007	75.90%	3.20%
Oman	4,654,471	90,000	3,310,260	71.10%	2.30%
Palestine	2,839,777	35,000	3,007,869	63.20%	2.10%
Qatar	2,258,283	30,000	2,200,000	97.40%	1.60%
Saudi Arabia	32,157,974	200,000	20,813,695	64.70%	14.70%
Syria	18,563,595	30,000	5,502,250	29.60%	3.90%
UAE	9,266,971	735,000	8,515,420	91.90%	6.00%
Yemen	27,392,779	15,000	6,773,228	24.70%	4.80%
Gaza Strip	1,921,202	see Palestina	see Palestina	n/a	n/a
Total	246,700,900	3,284,800	141,489,765	57.40%	100.00%

(Source: Internet World Stats, 2016)

In Saudi Arabia, only 21 per cent of the total workforce consists of women (Saudi Gazette, 2015). Therefore, if the government wants to achieve its transformation goals of equitable resource allocation among male and female, a need for change is demanded through the increased commitment to providing higher education to women. According to UN Women (2014), Saudi Arabia achieved the highest economic development among all the Islamic countries. However, as of today, Saudi women still have few or no political and social rights (Al-Kahtani, Ryan & Jefferson, 2006; Kendall, 2016).

In the year 2014, Saudi Arabia has called for a national plan to adopt IT spanning the country (Al-Asmari & Khan, 2014). The plan strongly recommends the implementation of e-learning and distance learning in higher education. In a major transformation of conventional education, the Saudi Ministry of Higher Education has recently launched the National Centre of E-learning& Distance Learning, set up a repository to organize the change, and prepare E-learning materials to help universities adopt the system and transform to a scheme of E-learning quickly (University World News, 2008).

The findings of the past literature pertaining to this issue demonstrated that in certain aspects male leaders differ from their female counterparts, whereby it has been revealed that men are more task-oriented and on the other hand, women are more relationship-oriented (e.g. Arnot, David & Weiner, 1999; Banerjee et al., 2018; Boaler, 1997; Crosato, Morandi & Satti, 2005). On the contrary, literature has also proven that there exists no difference in the teaching practices of men and women (Brickhouse, 2001; Butler, 1990; Ostebo & Haukanes, 2016). When it comes to the aspect of

teaching effectiveness, literature does not demonstrate that effective teaching is an outcome of a gender-based phenomenon Gipps & Murphy, 1994). Rather, effective teaching is highly situational which is based on an individual's (men or women) capability of practising a teaching approach that is the most suitable or ideal for a particular situation (Delamont & Duffin, 1978; Golombok & Fivush, 1994; Njaya, 2015). In modern time as the importance of non-hierarchical, flat organisational structures is increasing, educational institutes are giving much importance to teamwork, empowerment and relationship building, and these traits are more prevalent among women.

Besides, the government of Saudi Arabia has started promoting equal rights for genders by encouraging and establishing more female learning institutions to enhance the number of Saudi women reaching higher education (Mehran, 2013). Besides, transitions from social and humanity fields to technology fields through incorporating of learning and developing ICT in the women's curriculum reflects as of the major efforts taken by the government in recent years (Abdul Ghafour, 2008; Al-Asmari, 2005; Al-Khalifa & Garcia, 2013; Khan et al., 2000; Sahab, 2003). This inclusion will advance the use of ICT to engender E-learning in such schools (Kendall, 2016). Finally, it can be asserted that teaching effectiveness cannot be attained by trying to dominate the aspect of teaching by one particular gender, rather effective teaching can be accomplished by being gender- neutral and integrating the male and female teaching approaches. Therefore, the stereotype perceptions that create a barrier for women to work in the male-dominated society should be minimised. It is recommended that modern-day organisations should strive to enhance diversity at every level of management. Due to the reason that diversity only adds new ideas, perceptions as well as practices, which eventually foster organisational effectiveness. Henceforth, in order to attain their full potential universities should hire more female faculty members.

1.3 Problem Statement

In today's world, the university working environment is far away from being static since it is continuously going through and experiencing changing situations (Peach & Bieber, 2015). Thus, it is essential for universities that are operating in this dynamic environment of modern time to be aware of the changes that are taking place. They should also learn how to cope up with the changes in order to remain successful (Tracey, 2014). Under these circumstances, it has indeed become a challenging issue for universities to craft strategies and create policies that will facilitate and as well as permit them to effectively manage the effects of such uncertainties that may arise due to shifts in either external or internal environments and help them to not only meet but also surpass their performance expectations (Titan et al., 2014).

In scholarly writing the most distributed exploration on learning styles is on instruction discipline, trailed by business the board and software engineering (Naqvi & Naqvi, 2017). The focal point of instructive exploration on learning styles stressed on coordinating understudy learning styles with educational program and showing styles

of teachers (Kolb, 1984). Be that as it may, as referenced previously, little exploration examines the impacts of the adoption of online training system and gender orientation on the effectiveness for the female faculty members. The reason of this research is to guarantee that the students can relate ideas of figuring out how to the particular conditions during the conveyance procedure. Besides, it is essential to invigorate the separating understudies for bringing their scope of thoughts and methods of critical thinking in class. These studies despite the fact that are not fruitful in execution as joining understudies, they assume a significant job in the applied comprehension of the course material. These students are the most inventive ones and different knowledge can gain from them (Messick, 1996). Expanding the students' attention to learning styles may prompt an increase in the adaptability of showing styles and upgrade the correspondence among teachers and the students.

The popularity of online education is also increasing, and a good number of educational institutions are seeking to grow their online offerings to meet their future students' demand (Alkhalaf, Drew & Nguyen, 2013; Al-Rawaf & Simmons, 1991; Ramady, 2010). The great advantages such as the capability of reaching a wider number of students, flexibility in terms of course delivery as well as the cost-effectiveness have encouraged many higher learning institutes to integrate this new elearning system into their curricular (Hu & Hui, 2012).

Due to this, the current programme needs to be revised and requires to build new online instructional capacity. As such, the faculty members also need to undergo training that will enable them to be equipped with such modern technology to teach online (Major et al., 2014; Rhode & Krishnamurthi, 2016). This is also well applicable to Saudi Arabian public universities as they need to upgrade themselves to compete in today's world (Al Lily & Foland, 2013). In Saudi Arabia, most teachers are familiar with the old classroom teaching. To cope with the current demand from the new generation of learners, they need to equip them with the new method of online teaching and learning (Titan et al., 2014). However, a very few know where to begin (Allen & Seaman, 2013, 2014). Therefore, a gap can be observed between the teachers' current and required level of knowledge for online teaching to serve in this ever-increasing student-centred teaching method (Rhode & Krishnamurthi, 2016; Tracey, 2014). According to Gibbs and Gosper (2006, p. 46), "the next generation of learning technologies and systems will only take us forward if educators have a much greater stake in controlling how they are developed." As such, a proper faculty development program on online teaching is required that will support towards bridging this gap. Moreover, this will also ensure that educators are provided with the essential online learning experience to teach and communicate effectively in the online learning environment.

It is generally perceived that each culture has its own individual method of social affair and handling data, of learning and of taking care of issues (Lee, Becker and Nobre, 2012). These individual subjective capacities which are gained throughout a long socialization process are called learning styles (Reynolds, 1997). A learning style can be defined as the individual, characteristic and favored way an individual treats data

and sentiments in a specific learning circumstance that will influence their choices and practices. Each culture prepares and forms those inside its framework for what it considers to be the most suitable strategies for critical thinking. Strengthening this, Hofstede (1986) accepts that psychological advancement is controlled by the requests of the earth in which one grew up and that subjective capacities are established in the all-out examples of a general public. Expanding on this idea, Hofstede (1980) defines culture as the aggregate programming of the psyche which recognizes the members of one human gathering from another. It is dictated by national socialization encouraged by foundations, for example, family, school and work. Those influence the improvement of learning styles – the best approach to gain, request and use ideas. Subsequently, the improvement of learning styles might be straightforwardly and in a roundabout way identified with, and along these lines influenced by, culture. A large portion of the earlier writing on multifaceted contrasts in conduct has focused on qualities and perspectives (Hofstede, 1980, 2001).

For instant, the power disparity between men and women in Saudi Arabia is enormous (Al-Jarf, 2007; Doumato, 2010). A study conducted by Alqahtani (2016) found that a clear reflection of men domination in the existing education system can be observed where participation of women in higher education is either restricted by their male authorities (e.g., father, husband) or access is very limited (e.g., lack of women higher learning institutions). This practice implies that woman's choices of higher education for further development are still limited that must be improved (Al-Wabil et al., 2008; Asiri et al., 2012). Besides, freedom of work or do something independently without the supervision of their male authority should be in place in Saudi Arabia that will allow the Saudi Arabian women to access more educational opportunities (Taleb, 2014a).

It should be noted that even e-learning could open up opportunities for Saudi women towards education more freely, however, require substantial investment from the leaner (Al Saif, 2005; Ali, Sait & Al-Tawil, 2003). Therefore, the introduction of this e-learning system might offer opportunities for females towards better involvement for the foreseeable future (Al-Shawi & Al-Wabil, 2008; Hu & Hui, 2012; Singh & Hardaker, 2014; Taleb, 2014b).

A good number of researchers have demonstrated the need for online training for the faculty members in various countries around the world in recent years (e.g. Allen & Seaman, 2007, 2014; Brown et al., 2009; Hassell-Corbiell, 2001; Knowles, Holton III& Swanson, 2005; Palloff & Pratt, 2011; Powell, 2010; Rhode & Krishnamurthi, 2016; Sorcinelli, 1999; Titan et al., 2014; Walker & Montes, 2011). However, most of these academic researchers have discussed the different effects of the online training system. Conversely, the need for online training for female faculty members in Saudi Arabia has not been adequately measured, which culturally very diverse and unique. Thus, empirical evidence is clearly lacking and needs to be studied.

Adding to this, though there are many reasons that discusses the need for the online training program (OTP), however, there is no conclusive model for Saudi Arabian

educational industry yet exists in the current literature where culture is a big barrier comparing to the other world. As gender inequity remains an unsolved issue in Saudi Arabia, thus, this research is undertaken to realise the need to examine the need for the online training program (OTP) for Saudi women faculty members closely. This will help them in equipping with modern teaching and learning system as well as remain under the supervision of their mail authority. Such a programme will help Saudi women faculty members in learning new things without breaching any social or religious obligations.

There is also a lack of evidence on how to measure the effectiveness of online training programs (OTP) for women in Saudi Arabian public universities. In that respect, there is also a need to identify a measurement tool through which the effectiveness of online training programs (OTP) for women in Saudi Arabian public universities can be measured.

1.4 Research Questions

This research aims to determine the factors influencing the adoption of the online training program and its effectiveness for the female faculty members in Saudi Arabian public universities. This is aimed to train the female faculty members in need of technology and online teaching through of internet. Hence, the main research question this study will answer is, "What are the factors influencing the adoption of the online training program and its effectiveness for the female faculty members in Saudi Arabian public universities?" To achieve this, the following sub-research questions will be answered:

- What is the relationship between perceived ease of use, perceived usefulness, perceived relative advantage, perceived trust and social influence and adoption of the online training program?
- Does perceived usefulness mediate the relationship between perceived ease of use and adoption of the online training program?
- What is the relationship between the adoption of online training program and effectiveness of online training program?
- Does the adoption of the online training program mediate the relationship between perceived ease of use, perceived usefulness, perceived relative advantage, perceived trust, and social influence and effectiveness of online training program?
- Does competitive pressure and government regulations moderate the relationship between the adoption of training program and effectiveness of online training program?

1.5 Research Objectives

The main objective of this research is "To identify the factors influencing the adoption of the online training program and its effectiveness for the female faculty members in Saudi Arabian public universities." The sub-objectives are:

- To determine the relationship between perceived ease of use, perceived usefulness, perceived relative advantage, perceived trust and social influence and adoption of the online training program.
- To determine whether perceived usefulness mediates the relationship between perceived Ease of Use and adoption of the online training program.
- To discover the relationship between the adoption of online training program and effectiveness of online training program.
- To determine whether the adoption of the online training program mediates the relationship between perceived ease of use, perceived usefulness, perceived relative advantage, perceived trust, and social influence and effectiveness of online training program.
- To determine whether competitive pressure and government regulations moderate
 the relationship between the adoption of the training program and effectiveness of
 online training program.

1.6 Significance of the Study

In Saudi Arabia, universities increasingly get convinced of the necessity to adopt the online training programme (OTP) for their female faculty members (Al Lily & Foland, 2013). Hence, universities are trying their best to elaborate policies and strategies to introduce and implement online training programmes for female faculty members in the hope to improve their overall teaching performance (Al-Asmari & Khan, 2014). It is important to note that adaptation of OTP within the teaching activities can be used as a mechanism to show the students that the university care for their students that aims to provide the up-to-date teaching and learning experience. Thus, providing this needed support to the female faculty members will enhance the success of the business through profit maximisation (Seguino & Grown, 2006; Sen & Nayar, 2013).

There are many universities in various countries presently offering online courses with the aim to reduce operational costs in comparison to traditional teaching methods (Peach & Bieber, 2015). However, this is not the only factor that affects the effective implementation of online training programs (OTP). There might be other important factors which need to be addressed and which have been overlooked by the researchers to date. As the government is working actively towards the promotion online training program (OTP) for the country, this study will identify the underlying factors influencing the adoption of the online training program and its effectiveness for the female faculty members in Saudi Arabian public universities that could shape the future of education industry in Saudi Arabia. Therefore, this study is very significant in various aspects. These are highlighted below.

1.6.1 Methodological Significance

Firstly, in terms of methodological contribution, a valid and reliable instrument will be proposed that will help to measure the effective implementation of online training programs (OTP) for female faculty members. These will add further to the methodological aspects of online training programs (OTP) research.

1.6.2 Empirical Significance

Empirically, this research will seek to evaluate the factors influencing the adoption of the online training program and its effectiveness for the female faculty members in Saudi Arabian public universities. Therefore, this research will measure the relationship between the various factors that influence the effective implementation of online training programs (OTP) for female faculty members in Saudi Arabian public universities. This will be achieved by empirical testing of the structural relationships among different OTP factors. This rational consideration will enable a better understanding of the factors influencing the adoption of the online training program and its effectiveness for the female faculty members in Saudi Arabian public universities.

1.6.3 Theoretical Significance

This study is also theoretically critical. This study will significantly contribute to the theoretical development of the online training program (OTP) theory for Saudi Arabian public universities. Besides, this study has incorporated the factor "Social influence" which is the first time used in the Saudi Arabian context of the adoption of the online training program. Social influence includes deliberate and accidental endeavours to change someone else's beliefs, attitudes, or conduct (Hudson, 2015). It is characterized as change in a person's musings, sentiments, attitudes, or practices that outcomes from association with another individual or a gathering (Luo, Chen and Wu, 2016; Stibe and Cugelman, 2019). It results from a particular activity, order, or solicitation, however individuals likewise adjust their attitudes and practices in light of what they see others may do or think (Deutsch and Gerard, 1955; Kelman, 1958). All the incorporated variables are combined for linking and testify with (dependent variable) adoption of the online training program among Saudi Arabian female users.

1.6.4 Practical Significance

Finally, from the practical viewpoint, a minimal number of studies can be found on the factors influencing the adoption of the online training program and its effectiveness for the female faculty members in Saudi Arabian public universities. Therefore, its resulting indicators will help both the government and the researchers to understand why there is a need for the effective implementation of online training programs (OTP) for female faculty members in Saudi Arabian public universities. Hence, it will help to develop new policies to attract more female students, which, in turn, will provide

better revenue for Saudi Arabia. The outcome of this particular research also intends to provide the academics and management authorities working in the universities in Saudi Arabia with an opportunity and strategy for properly managing and handling their human resources and turning them into their success factors. At the same time, it will also facilitate the management in creating and modifying their institutional policies and rules regarding human resource recruitment, selection, training and development.

1.7 Scope of the Research

The current study takes an attempt and an initiative to explore the various factors influencing the adoption of the online training program and its effectiveness for the female faculty members in public universities in the setting of a different culture namely Saudi Arabia, where these relationships have not yet been discovered. Data were collected from female employees working at various public universities in Saudi Arabia using random sampling technique. This research is limited in scope towards public universities, thus ignoring some valuable information from the private universities. The findings of the study will serve as an essential guideline for universities to improve employee motivation and also to retain employees with high potential and talent, in the setting of Saudi Arabia. Given the significance of online training/instruction to enterprises and scholastic organizations overall data identifying with how culture impacts online learning and how cultural contrasts can be thought about in its structure and conveyance is of most extreme significance. The outcomes give bits of knowledge into how to consider the effect of cultural contrasts to structure and better convey online administration instruction/training to various cultural conditions.

1.8 Key Definitions

The definitions of the key variables used in this study are proved below.

1.8.1 Perceived Ease of Use

"The degree to which a person believes that using a particular system would be free from effort" (Davis, 1989, p.320).

1.8.2 Perceived Usefulness

"The degree to which a person believes that using a particular system would enhance his or her job performance" (Davis, 1989, p.320).

1.8.3 Perceived Relative Advantage

It is the perceived image that an individual hold about something innovation or platform that he/she compares with a traditional alternative and found to be superior (Castle & McGuire, 2010).

1.8.4 Perceived Trust

It is the cognitive element (e.g., individual perception or idea about a certain thing) that plays a major role in building trust (Blumberg et al., 2013).

1.8.5 Social Influence

According to Rubha and Kothai (2015), social influence is the extent to which importance is perceived by others that are likely to form a belief about one's use of the new system.

1.8.6 Competitive Pressure

"Competitive pressure can be explained in terms of its effect on a firm's incentives to undertake product and process innovations. The result of product innovation is a new product to introduce into the market. Hence the incentive for product innovation is determined by the profit level associated with this new product" (Boone, 2008, p. 1248).

1.8.7 Government Regulation

"A rule of order having the force of law, prescribed by a government authority, relating to the actions of those under the authority's control" (Xu et al., 2015).

1.8.8 Online Training Programs

Online training program refers to a training program conducted over the internet (Taleb, 2014a).

1.9 Organization of the Thesis

There is total of five chapters in this Thesis. Chapter one is the introduction that explains the background of the research, current practices in Saudi Arabia, problem statement, research questions, research objective, the significance of the study, key definitions and the overall research structure.

Chapter two explains the detail literature review. It starts with the theoretical background that explains the various theories related to the study. This section explains why some underpinning theories are required to explain the study framework. The next section includes a detail discussion on different variables that were identified in the study. Based on the detail discussion, the study framework is proposed in this chapter, followed by showing the detail linkage between the different constructs those will be measured in this study.

Chapter three deals with the research methodology. It starts with describing the research design followed by the survey method that will be used in this study. The population and sample of the study are also identified, and measurements and implementation are also explained in this chapter. Later, a detail data collection procedure, source of data, data analysis technique and tools are identified. Finally, it discusses the detailed procedure on how this study will handle the reliability and validity issues.

Chapter four deals with the data analysis. This chapter also presents the details procedures of various statistical tests performed in this study.

Finally, in chapter five, a detail discussion on the findings is presented. The various implications of the study are also presented at the end of the chapter. Additionally, further research directions on medical tourism are also proposed.

1.10 Chapter Summary

The current chapter provided a synopsis of what this study is all about. At the initial stage, this chapter primarily provided a general idea of the study at hand. Later on, it talked about the Saudi Arabian education system and particularly provided an overview of the current education system for the female population. Afterwards, the chapter proceeded by highlighting the problem that gave rise to this particular study. Next, the research objectives, as well as the research questions, were listed. Finally, the chapter came to an end by explaining the significance of the study. The next chapter strictly concentrates on all the relevant literature that has been reviewed. At the same time, it also presents the proposed model of the study at hand and lastly, lists the hypotheses.

REFERENCES

- Aarts, P. (2004). The internal and the external: The house of Saud's resilience explained. European University Institute, Florence. Robert Schuman Centre for Advanced Studies Working Paper No. 2004/33.
- Abdul Ghafour, P. K. (2008). *Most Saudi universities switch to e-learning by* 2009. Retrieved from http://www.sciencedev.net/fe/Article.aspx?Aid=725.
- Abouchedid, K., & Eid, G. (2014). E-learning challenges in the Arab world: Revelations from a case study profile. *Quality Assurance in Education*, 12(1), 15-27.
- Abrahamson, E., & Rosenkopf, L. (2018). Institutional and competitive bandwagons. Academy of Management Review, 18(July), 487–517.
- Agarwal, R., & Karahanna, E. (2000). Time flies when you're having fun: Cognitive absorption and beliefs about information technology usage. *MIS Quarterly*, 24(4), 665-692.
- Aguirre-Urreta, M. I., Marakas, G. M., & Ellis, M. E. (2013). Measurement of composite reliability in research using partial least squares: some issues and an alternative approach. *SIGMIS Database*, 44(4), 11–43.
- Ahmad, A. (2011). Assessing the Predictive Power of Technology Adoption Life Cycle Model in Nigerian Telecom Market. *International Journal of Innovation & Technology*, 2(4), 348-353.
- Ajam, A. A., & Nor, M. (2013). Influencing Factors on Behavioral Intention to Adopt Internet Banking Service. *Journal of World Applied Sciences Journal*, 22(11), 66-76.
- Ajzen, I. (1971). Attitudinal vs Normative messages: An investigation of the Differential Effects of persuasive communications on behaviour. *Sociometry*, 34, 263-280.
- Ajzen, I. (1991). The theory of planned Behaviour. *Organisational Behavior and Human Decision Processes*, 50(2), 179-211.
- Ajzen, I., & Fishbein, M. (1980). *Understanding Attitudes and Predicting Social Behaviour*. Englewoods-Cliffs, New Jersey: Prentice Hall.
- Akhlaq, A., & Ahmed, E. (2013). The effect of motivation on Trust in the acceptance of IB. In a low income country. *International Journal of Bank Marketing*, 31(2), 115-125.
- Al Lily, A. E. A. (2013). Social Change and Educational Technologies: By Invitation or Invasion. Journal of Organisational Transformation & Social Change, 10(1), 42-63.

- Al Lily, A. E. A., (2011). On line and under veil: Technology facilitated communication and Saudi female experience within academia. Technology in Society, 33 (1-2): pp. 119-127.
- Al Lily, A. E. A., Borovoi, L., & Vlaev, I. (2016). Social Informatics in Education: Societal Cultures Versus Educational Technologies. *Bulletin of Science, Technology & Society*, 1-9.
- Al Lily, E. A., & Foland, J. (2013). The culturalisation of educational technologies: An enquiry into Saudi Arabia. *Sociology and Anthropology*, 2(3), 74-90.
- Al Rawaf, H. S. and Simmons, C. (1991). "The education of women in Saudi Arabia", Comparative Education, Vol. 27, No. 3, pp. 287–295.
- Al Saif, A. A. (2005). The motivating and inhibiting factors affecting the use of Webbased instruction at the University of Qassim in Saudi Arabia. Unpublished Ph.D. thesis, Wayne State University.
- Al Sudairy, H. (2007). The impact and influential factors of globalization on the Saudi higher educational system. Paper presented at the UNESCO Regional Research Seminar for Arab States, Rabat, 24-25 May, 2007.
- Al-Alwani, A. E. S. (2005). *Barriers to integrating information technology in Saudi Arabia*. (Doctoral dissertation). Retrieved from ProQuest Dissertations And Theses: Dissertation Abstracts International.
- Al-Asmari, A. M. (2005). The use of the internet among EFL teachers at the colleges of technology in Saudi Arabia. Unpublished Ph.D. thesis, Ohio State University.
- Al-Asmari, A., & Khan, M. S. R. (2014). E-learning in Saudi Arabia: Past, present and future. *Journal of Research in Education*, 2, 1-11. DOI: 10.5339/nmejre.2014.2.
- Alenezi, A. R., Abdulkarim, A. M., & Veloo, A. (2010). An empirical investigation into the role of enjoyment, computer anxiety, computer self-efficacy and internet experience in influencing the students' intention to use e-learning: a case study from Saudi Arabian governmental universities. *Turkish Online Journal of Educational Technology*, 9(4), 22-34.
- Alhareth, Y. A., Alhareth, Y. A., & Dighrir, I. A. (2015). Review of Women and Society in Saudi Arabia. *American Journal of Educational Research*, 3(2), 121-125.
- Ali, S. H., Sait, S. M., & Al-Tawil, K. M. (2003). *Perceptions about eLearning in Saudi Arabia*. Paper presented at the ICASE World Conference on Science & Technology Education, Penang, 2-4 April, 2003.

- Al-Jarf, R. S. (2007). *E-integration challenges for reactors and deans in higher education institutions in Saudi Arabia*. Paper presented at the Computer and Advanced Technology in Education, Beijing, 8-10 October, 2007.
- Al-Kahtani, N., Ryan, J., & Jefferson, T. (2006). How Saudi female faculty perceive internet technology usage and potential. *Information, Knowledge, System Management*, 5(6), 227–243.
- Alkhalaf, S., Drew, S., & Nguyen, A. (2013). Validation of the IS Impact Model for Measuring the Impact of e-Learning Systems in KSA Universities: Student Perspective. *International Journal of Advanced Computer Science and Applications*, 3(5), 73-78. DOI: 10.14569/IJACSA.2012.030512.
- Al-Khalifa, H. S., & Garcia, R. A. (2013). The state of social media in Saudi Arabia's higher education. *International Journal of Technology and Educational Marketing*, 3(1), 65-76. DOI:10.4018/jjtem.2013010105.
- Allen, E., & Seaman, J. (2007). *Online nation: Five years of growth in online learning*. Wellesley, MA: Babson Survey Research Group: The Sloan Consortium.
- Allen, I. E. & Seaman, J. (2013). Changing Course: Ten Years of Tracking Online Education in the United States. Babson Survey Research Group. Available: http://www.onlinelearningsurvey.com/.
- Allen, I. E. & Seaman, J. (2014). Grade Change: Tracking Online Education in the United States. Babson Survey Research http://www.onlinelearningsurvey.com/.
- Ally, M. (2008). *The theory and practice of online learning* (2nd ed.). East Norwalk, CT: Appleton.
- Almobarraz, A. (2008). Users' perception of internet characteristics in the academic environment. *Proceedings of the American Society for Information Science and Technology*, 45(1), 1-9. doi:10.1002/meet.2008.1450450205.
- Al-Mutawa, S. A., & Ibrahim, M. E. (2013). Effects of Gender and Personality Traits of Front-Desk Employees on Customers' Assessment of Service Quality: Evidence from Islamic Banks in the UAE. *International Journal of Business and Management*, 8(15), 1-19.
- Alotaibi, A. (2015). *IT-enabled Performative Spaces in Gender Segregated Work*. Unpublished Doctoral dissertation, University of Nottingham.
- Alqahtani, S. (2016). Effects of Social Networking on Higher Education in Saudi Arabia. In: T. Issa et al. (eds.), *Social Networking and Education, Lecture Notes in Social Networks* (pp. 291-304). Switzerland: Springer International Publishing. DOI 10.1007/978-3-319-17716-8_18.
- Al-Rawaf, H. S., & Simmons, C. (1991). The Education of Women in Saudi Arabia. *Comparative Education* 27(3), 287-295.

- Alshangeeti, A. M., Al-Saghier, H. M, & Nguyen, A. (2009). Faculty perceptions of attributes affecting the diffusion of online learning in Saudi Arabia: A quantitative study. *Proceedings of the international conference on e-learning*, 10-24. Retrieved from http://research-hub.griffith.edu.au/display/n53bb14cdb0207dd5e8aa473d340a3915.
- Al-Shawi, A., & Al-Wabil, A. (2008). *Internet usage by faculty in Saudi higher education*. Paper presented at the 2nd National Information Technology Symposium, Riyadh, 22-24 May.
- Al-Wabil, A., Alshawi, A., Alshankity, Z., Al-Wehaibi, K., & Al-Wehaibi, B. (2008). *Internet utilization by faculty in Saudi Arabian universities: Differences based on academic discipline.* Paper presented at the International Technology, Education and Development Conference, Valencia, 17-19 March, 2008.
- Angenu, B. B., Quansah, F., & Okoe, A. F. (2015). Determinants of Online Banking Adoption among Ghanaian University Students. *Journal of Service Science and Management*, 8, 183-190.
- Arcand, L. (2007). The impact of reading a web site's privacy statement on perceived control over privacy and perceived Trust. *Online Information Review*, 31(5), 661-681.
- Arnot, M., David, M. & Weiner, G. (1999). Closing the Gender Gap: Postwar educational and social change. Cambridge: Polity Press.
- Arza, C. (2014). *The gender dimensions of pension systems*. Background paper prepared for the United Nations Entity for Gender Equality and the Empowerment of Women. New York.
- Asiri, M. J., Mahmud, R., Abu Bakar, K., & Mohd Ayub, A. F. (2012). Role of Attitude in Utilization of Jusur LMS in Saudi Arabian Universities. *Procedia Social and Behavioral Sciences*, 64, 525-534. DOI: 10.1016/j.sbspro.2012.11.062.
- Atkinson, N. L. (2007). Developing a Questionnaire to Measure Perceived Attributes of eHealth Innovations. *American Journal of Health Behavior*, 31(6), 612-621.
- Babbie, E. R. (2015). *The Practice of Social Science* (14th ed.). Belmont CA: Wadsworth Cengage Learning.
- Balci, B., D. Grgecic and C. Rosenkranz. (2013). Why People Reject or Use Virtual Processes: A Test of Process Virtualization Theory. In: Proceedings of the Nineteenth Americas Conference on Information's systems (AMCIS),:1–8.
- Banerjee, M., Schenke, K., Lam, A., & Eccles, J. S. (2018). The Roles of Teachers, Classroom Experiences, and Finding Balance: A Qualitative Perspective on the Experiences and Expectations of Females Within STEM and Non-STEM Careers. *International Journal of Gender, Science and Technology, 10*, 287-307.

- Barbole, A., & Parakh, S. D. (2013). The study of consumer's perspective about internet banking: Empirical evidence from western Maharashtra. *Indian Streams Research Journal*, 3(3), 77-88.
- Barclay, D. W., Higgins, C. A., & Thompson, R. (1995). The partial least squares approach to causal modeling: personal computer adoption and use as illustration. *Technology Studies*, 2(2), 285–309.
- Barr, A. S., Davis, A. R., & Johnson, O. P. (1953). *Educational research-An appraisal*. New York: J.B. Lippincott Company.
- Barrientos, S., & Evers, B. (2014). Gendered production networks: push and pull on corporate responsibility? In: Rai, S. M. & Waylen, G. (eds.), *New Frontiers in Feminist Political Economy* (pp. 111-126). New York: Routledge.
- Bartolic-Zlomislic, S., & Bates, A. W. (1999). "Investing in online learning: Potential benefits and limitations", *Canadian Journal of Communication*, 24(3), 349–366.
- Binsahl, H., & Chang, S. (2012). *International Saudi Female students in Australia and social networking sites: what are the motivations and barriers to communication?* Paper presented at the 23rd ISANA International Education Association Conference, Auckland, New Zealand, 4-7 December.
- Birkinshaw, J., & Mark, K. (2015). Key MBA models: The 60+ models every manager and business student needs to know. London, England: Pearson.
- Blin, F., & Munro, M. (2008). Why hasn't technology disrupted academics' teaching practices? Understanding resistance to change through the lens of activity theory. *Computers and Education*, 50, 475-490.
- Blumberg, S. J., Bramlett, M. D., Kogan, M. D., Schieve, L. A., Jones, J. R., & Lu, M. C. (2013). Changes in prevalence of parent-reported autism spectrum disorder in school-aged US children: 2007 to 2011–2012. *National Health Statistics Reports*, 65(20), 1–7.
- Boaler, J. (1997). Experiencing School Mathematics: teaching styles, sex and setting. Milton Keynes: Open University Press.
- Bohrnstedt, G. W. (1983). Measurement Models for Survey Research. In P. H. Rossi, J. D. Wright & A. B. Anderson (Eds.), *Handbook of Survey Research* (pp. 347-406). San Diego, CA: Academic Press.
- Boone, J. (2008). A new way to measure competition. *The Economic Journa*, 118, 1245-1261.
- Brahim S. B. (2015). Typology of Resistance to e Banking Adoption by Tunisian. *Journal of Electronic Banking Systems*, 10, 345-354.

- Brickhouse, N.W. (2001). Embodying science: a feminist perspective on learning. Journal of Research in Science Teaching, 38(3), pp. 282-295.
- Brown, S. (1999). Open and Distance Learning: Case Studies from Industry and Education, London: Routledge.
- Brown, T. A., & Lease, A. J. (2009). Distance learning past, present and future. *International Journal of Instructional Media*, 36(4), 415-426.
- Buckingham-Hatfield, S. (2002). Gender equality: a prerequisite for sustainable development. *Geography*, 87(3), 227-233.
- Butler, J., (1990). *Gender Trouble: feminism and the subversion of identity*. New York: Routledge.
- Carliner, R. (2002). *Designing e-learning* (Astd E-Learning Series, 6th Bk.). Alexandria, VA: ASTD Press.
- Casalo, L. V., Carlos, F., & Guinaliu, I. (2007). The role of security, Privacy, usability and Reputation in the Development of online banking. *Online Information Review*, 5, 583-603.
- Castle, S., & McGuire, C. (2010). An analysis of student self-assessment of online, blended, and face-to-face learning environments: Implications for sustainable education delivery. *International Education Studies*, *3*(3), 36-40.
- Chari, H., & Haughey, M. (2006). The introduction of online learning: A case study of YCMOU. *Distance Education*, 27(1), 87-104.
- Chavan, J. (2013). Internet banking-benefits and challenges in an Emerging economy. *International Journal of Research in Business Management*, *1*(1), 19-26.
- Cohen, J. A. (1988). Statistical power analysis for the behavioural science. Mahwah, NJ: Lawrence Erlbaum.
- Corritore, C. L., Marble, R. P., Wiedenbeck, S., Kracher, B., & Chandran, A. (2005). Measuring Online Trust of Websites: Credibility, Perceived Ease of Use, and Risk. *AMCIS* 2005 Proceedings. Paper 370.
- Crosato, G., Morandi, F. & Satti, E. (2005). *Gender Stereotypes Overcoming and Equality of Women and Men: Guidelines for New Challenges*. (TAGS project for European Association of Regional and Local Authorities for Lifelong Learning [EARLALL]). Brussels: European Commission.
- Das S. and Dhar P. (2014). Technological Security Aspects for Internet Banking. *Indian Journal of Research Paripex*, 2(7), 89-96.
- Datta, S. K. (2010). Acceptance of e-banking among adult customers: An empirical investigation in India. *Journal of Internet Banking and Commerce*, 15, 1-16.

- Davis Jr, F. D. (1986). A technology acceptance model for empirically testing new end-user information systems: Theory and results (Doctoral dissertation, Massachusetts Institute of Technology).
- Davis, F. D. (1989). Perceived usefulness, perceived ease of use, and user acceptance of information technology. *MIS Quarterly*, *13*(3), 319–339.
- Davis, F.D., Bagozzi, R.P., & Warshaw, P.R. (1989). User acceptance of computer Technology: a Comparison of two theoretical models. *Journal of Management science* 35(8), 982-1003.
- Delamont, S. & Duffin, L. eds. (1978). The nineteenth-century woman: Her cultural and physical world. London: Croom Helm.
- Deutsch, M., & Gerard, H. B. (1955). A study of normative and informational social influences upon individual judgment. *Journal of Abnormal and Social Psychology*, 51(3), 629–636.
- Diaz, L. A., & Entonado, F. B. (2009). Are the functions of teachers in e-learning and face-to-face learning environments really different? *Journal of Educational Technology and Society*, *12*, 341-343.
- Dijkstra, T. K. (2014). PLS' Janus face response to professor Rigdon's 'rethinking partial least squares modeling: in praise of simple methods'. *Long Range Planning*, 47(3), 146–153.
- Doney, P.M. and Cannon, J.P. (1997)"An examination of the nature of Trust in buyer-seller relationships," *Journal of Marketing*, 61 (2), : 35-51.
- Doumato, E. (2010). Saudi Arabia. In: S. Kelly and J. Breslin, (eds.), *Women's Rights in the Middle East and North Africa* (pp. 2-30). New York, NY: Freedom House.
- Eckhardt, A., Laumer, S., and Weitzel, T. (2015). Who influences whom? Analyzing workplace referents' social influence on IT adoption and non-adoption," *Journal of Information Technology*, 24(1): 11–24.
- Enrico, G. (2015). Customers' Intention to Use Digital Services in Retail Banking EU Conference on Information Systems (ECIS), An Information Processing Perspective. Proceedings of the Twenty-Third EU Conference on Information Systems, Germany (pp. 1-12).
- Erdogan, M., & Tuncer, G. (2009). Evaluation of a course: Education and awareness for sustainability. *International Journal of Environmental and Science Education*, 4, 133-144.
- Esen, M., & Erdogmus, N. (2014). Effects of Technology Readiness on Technology Acceptance in E-HRM: Mediating Role of Perceived Usefulness. *The Journal of Knowledge Economy & Knowledge Management*, 9(1), 1-21.

- Evosys. (2015). *Gap between Education System and Labor Market in Saudi Arabia*. Retrieved from http://evosys.biz/.
- Ezzi S. W. (2014). A Theoretical Model for Internet Uses: Beyond Perceived Usefulness and Ease of Use. *Journal of archives of Business Research*, 2(9), 110-119.
- Fathima, A. Y. (2015). User acceptance of online technology With Special Reference to internet uses: *Theoretical and applied information technology*, 7, 33-42.
- Findlow, S. (2007). Women, higher education and social transformation in the Arab Gulf. In: ed. Brock, C. and Levers, L. Z. (eds.), *Aspects of education in the Middle East and North Africa* (pp. 57-76). Oxford: Symposium Books.
- Findlow, S. (2013). Higher education and feminism in the Arab Gulf. *British Journal of Sociology of Education*, 34(1), 112-131.
- Fishbein, M., & Ajzen, I. (1975). Belief, Attitude, Intention, and Behaviour: An Introduction to Theory and Research. Reading, MA: Addison-Wesley.
- Fornell, C., & Larcker, D. F. (1981). Evaluating Structural Equation Models with Unobservable Variables and Measurement Error. *Journal of Marketing Research* 18(1), 39-50.
- Ganesan, S. (1994). Determinants of long-term orientation in buyer-seller Relationships, *Journal of Marketing*, 58, 1-19.
- Gerrard, P., Cunningham, J. B. & Devlin, J. F. (2006). Why Consumers are not using Internet Banking: a qualitative study, Journal of Services Marketing, 20(3), 160-173.
- Gibbs, D., & Gosper, M. (2006). The upside-down-world of e-learning. *Journal of Learning Design*, 1(2), 46-54.
- Gillespie-Lynch, K., Brooks, P. J., Someki, F., Obeid, R., Shane-Simpson, C., Kapp, S. K., Daou, N., & Smith, D. S. (2015). Changing College Students' Conceptions of Autism: An Online Training to Increase Knowledge and Decrease Stigma. *Journal of Autism and Developmental Disorders*, 45, 2553-2566.
- Gipps, C. & Murphy, P. (1994). *A fair test: Assessment, achievement and equity*. Buckingham: Open University Press.
- Gollwitzer, P. M. (1999). Implementation intentions: Strong effects of simple Plans. *Journal of American Psychologist*, *54*, 493-503.
- Golombok, S. & Fivush, R. (1994). *Gender development*. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press.

- Goyal R. (2015). Internet Banking Adoption in an Emerging Economy: Indian Consumer's Perspective. *SSRG International Journal of Humanities and Social Science* 6(1), 23-41.
- Gray, D. E. (2018). *Doing Research in the Real World* (4th edn.). California, Thousand Oaks: SAGE Publications, Inc.
- Guba, E. G., & Lincoln, Y. S. (1991). What is the constructivist paradigm? Knowledge for Policy: Improving Education through Research. London: Falmer Press.
- Haidar, N. (2012). Online learning as a better way to help students learn more effectively and actively. Unpublished manuscript. Walden University.
- Hair, J. F., Black, W. C., Babin, B. J., & Anderson, R. E. (2015). *Multivariate Data Analysis: A Global Perspective* (7th Global ed.). Upper Saddle River: Pearson Prentice-Hall.
- Hair, J. F., Celsi, M., Money, A. H., Samouel, P., & Page, M. J. (2016). Essentials of business research methods (3rd Eds.). New York: Routledge.
- Hair, J. F., Hollingsworth, C. L., Randolph, A. B., and Chong, A. Y. L (2017a). An Updated and Expanded Assessment of PLS-SEM in Information Systems Research. *Industrial Management & Data Systems*, 117(3), 442-458.
- Hair, J. F., Hult, G. T. M., Ringle, C. M., & Sarstedt, M. (2017b). A primer on partial least squares structural equation modelling (PLS-SEM) (2nd eds.). Thousand Oaks: Sage.
- Hamdan, A. (2018). Women and education in Saudi Arabia: Challenges and achievements. *International Education Journal*, 6(1), 42-64.
- Hanafizadeh, C., Byron, R., & Khedmatgozar, L. (2013). Systematic Review of Internet banking adoption: Telematics and Informatics. Contents lists available at www.elsevier.com.
- Haque, A., Zaki, A. S., & Hayat, D. A. (2009). Issues of E-Banking Transaction: An Empirical Investigation on Malaysian Customers Perception. *Journal of Applied Sciences*, 9(10), 1870-1879.
- Hassell-Corbiell, R. (2001). Developing Training Courses: A Technical Writer's Guide to Instructional Design and Development. Tacoma, WA: Learning Edge.
- Henseler, H., Ringle, C. M., & Sinkovics, R. R. (2009). Partial Least Squares Path Modeling in International Marketing. *Advances in International Marketing*, 20, 277–319.
- Henseler, J., Ringle, C. M., & Sarstedt, M. (2015). A new criterion for assessing discriminant validity in variance-based structural equation modelling. *Journal of the Academy of Marketing Science*, 43(1), 115-135.

- Ho, R. (2013). Handbook of univariate and multivariate data analysis and interpretation with SPSS (2nd ed.). Boca Raton, FL: Chapman & Hall/CRC.
- Hofstede, G. (1980). Culture's Consequences. International Differences in Work-related Values. Sage, Beverly Hills, CA.
- Hofstede, G. (1986). Cultural differences in teaching and learning. *International Journal of Intercultural Relations*, 10, 301-320.
- Hofstede, G. (2001). Culture's Consequences: Comparing Values, Behaviors, Institutions, and Organizations Across Nations. Sage, London.
- Hong, T. S. (2015). Investigating the factors influence adoption of internet banking in Malaysia: Adopters perspective. *International Journal of Business and Management*, 8, 21-31.
- Hu, L. T., & Bentler, P. M. (1999). Cut-off criteria for fit indexes in covariance structure analysis: Conventional criteria versus new alternatives. *Structural Equation Modelling*, 6, 1-55.
- Hu, L.-t., & Bentler, P. M. (1998). Fit Indices in Covariance Structure Modelling: Sensitivity to Underparameterized Model Misspecification, *Psychological Methods*, 3(4), 424-453.
- Hu, P. J. -H., & Hui, W. (2012). Examining the role of learning engagement in technology-mediated learning and its effects on learning effectiveness and satisfaction. *Decision Support Systems*, 53, 782-792.
- Hudson, V. M. (2015). Women's Status and National and International Security. In: Wright, J. D. (Ed), *International Encyclopedia of the Social & Behavioral Sciences* (2nd Eds), pp. 638-643.
- Humphrey S. M. (2014). Research Trends in the Diffusion of Internet Banking in Developing Countries. *Journal of Internet Banking and Commerce*, 19(2), 567-578.
- Internet World Stats. (2016). *The Internet Big Picture World Internet Users and 2016 Population Stats*. Available at: https://www.internetworldstats.com/middle.htm#sa.
- Irfan B. and , Chendragiri M. (2015). Consumer attitude and behavioural intention towards Internet banking adoption in India. *Journal of Indian Business Research*, 7(1), 67 102.
- Irfan B. C., & Ramakrishna N. J. (2013). Customer Acceptance of Interne t Banking Services: A Review of Extensions and Replications to Technology Adoption Model (TAM). *Asia-Pacific Marketing Review*, 2, 55-72.
- Karami M. Ali Akbar Hozhabri A. A., Asgharizadeh E., Md Nor K.. Saif-Ur-Rehman Khan S. U. R., Gashti M.A. H (2014). *Elements affect online repurchase*

- *intentions of Malaysia's online shoppers*. 8th International Conference on e-Commerce in Developing Countries: With Focus on e-Trust, ECDC
- Karjaluoto, J., Mattila, M., Pento, T. (2002). Factors underlying attitude Formation towards online banking in Finland. *International Journal of Bank Marketing*, 20(6), 261-272.
- Kelman, H. (1958). Compliance, identification, and internalization: Three processes of attitude change. *Journal of Conflict Resolution*, 2(1), 51–60.
- Kendall, B. (2016). *Saudi Arabia's unseen ref*orm. Available at: http://news.bbc.co.uk/.../.
- Khan, J. A., Khan, S.A. and Al-Abaji, R. H. (2001). "Prospects of distance education in developing countries", in: *Millennium Dawn in Training and Continuing Education*, Bahrain, 24-26 April 2001.
- Khan, S. A., Shazli, S., Khan, J. A., & Sait, S. M. (2000). *Distance education and its prospects in Saudi Arabia*. Paper presented at the First Saudi Technical Conference and Exhibition, Riyadh, 21-24 November, 2000.
- Khong, K. W., Onyemeh, N. C., & Chong, A. Y. L. (2013). BSEM estimation of Network effect and Customer, Orientation empowerment on trust in social media and network environment. *Expert Systems with Applications*, 40(12), 4858-4870.
- Khoo, S. L. (2015). Informal Learning through Online: Evidence and Scenarios. Journal of Social Sciences & Humanities 23(1), 1-19.
- Kini, A. & Choobineh, J. (1998). *Trust in electronic commerce: definition and theoretical considerations*, Proceedings of the 31st Hawaii International Conference on System Sciences, Maui, (pp. 51-61).
- Knowles, M. S., Holton III, E. F., & Swanson, R. A. (2005). *The Adult Learner* (6th ed). Burlington, MA: Elsevier.
- Kolb, A. D. (1984). Experiential learning- Experience as the source of learning and development. Eaglewood Cliffs, New Jersey: Prentice Hall.
- Kothari, C. R. (2019). *Research Methodology: Methods and Techniques* (4th ed.). New Delhi: New Age International (P) Limited.
- Krijnen, W. P., Dijkstra, T. K., & Gill, R. D. (1998). Conditions for factor (in) determinacy in factor analysis. *Psychometrika*, 63(4), 359–367.
- Kuhn, T. S. (1996). *The Structure of Scientific Revolutions* (3rd edn.). Chicago: The University of Chicago Press.

- Lee, J. (2001). "Instructional support for distance education and faculty motivation, commitment, satisfaction", *British Journal of Educational Technology*, Vol. 32, No. 2, pp. 153–160.
- Lee, J. W., Becker, K., & Nobre, H. (2012). Impact of culture on online management education. *Cross Cultural Management: An International Journal*, 19(3), 399-420.
- Leidner, D. E. and Jarvenpaa, S. L. (1993). "The information age confronts education: Case studies on electronic classroom", *Information Systems Research*, Vol. 1, No. 4, pp. 24–54.
- Li, J., Liu, J. L., & Yong, J, H. (2014). Empirical Study of Influence Factors of Adaption Intention of Mathieson, K. (1991). Predicting user intentions: comparing the technology Acceptance Model with the theory of Planned behavior. *Information Systems Research*, 2(3), 173-191.
- Lin, W. S. (2009). Determinants of User Adoption of E-payment Services, *The Journal of American Academy of Business*, 14(2), 222.245.
- Lohmöller, J.-B. (1989). *Latent Variable Path Modeling with Partial Least Squares*. Physica: Heidelberg.
- Long N., Duc T.N., and Tarlok S., (2014). Effect of Trust on Customer Intention to use Electronic Banking in Vietnam. Proceedings of Global Business and Finance Research Conference, 5-6 May, 2014, Marriott Hotel, Melbourne, Australia.
- Luo, P., Chen, K., & Wu, C. (2016). Measuring social influence for firm-level financial performance. *Electronic Commerce Research and Applications*, 20, 15-29.
- Madden, T. J., Ellen, P. S., & Ajzen, I. (1992). A Comparison of the Theory of Planned Behaviour and the Theory of Reasoned Action. *Personality and Social Psychology Bulletin*, 18(1), 3-9.
- Major, A. E., Chaudhury, S. R., Gilbertson, B. M., & King Jr, D. T. (2014). An integrated science course moves online: four concurrent perspectives. *Journal of Applied Research in Higher Education*, 6(2), 248-268.
- Manolea, G. (2012). Capitalization the creativity potential of university by innovation and technology transfer. *Revista Minelor/Mining Revue*, 18(3), 2-8.
- Mayer, R. E. (2016). Elements of a science of e-learning. *Journal of Educational Computing Research*, 29, 297-313.
- Mayer, R.C., Davis, J.H., & Schoorman, F.D. (1995). An integrative model of organizational Trust. Journal of Academy of Management Review, Vol No: 20(3), pp- 709-734.

- McMenomy, R., Hill, R., & Dubose, M. S. (2010). Instructors' vantage point: teaching online vs. face-to-face. *Chronicle of Higher Education*, *57*(11), B47-B49.
- Mehran, G. (2013). The Paradox of tradition and modernity in female education in the Islamic republic of Iran. *Comparative Education Review*, 47(3), 269-286.
- Meihami, B., Varmaghani, Z. & Meihami, H. (2013). The effect of using electronic Banking On profitability of bank. *Interdisciplinary Journal of Contemporary Research in Business*, 4(12), 1299-2131.
- Messick, S. (1996). Bridging cognition and personality in education: the role of style in performance and development. *European Journal of Personality 10*, 353-376.
- Metz, H. C. (1992). Saudi Arabia: A Country Study, Washington: GPO for the Library of Congress. Available at: http://countrystudies.us/saudi-arabia/.
- Metz, K. (2016). Benefits of online courses in career and technical education. *Techniques: Connecting Education and Careers*, 85(6), 20-23.
- Michael, N., Kamau, G. W., Wanyembi, S., & Stephen, W. (2015). Review of Technology Acceptance Model usage in predicting e-commerce adoption. *International Journal of Application or Innovation in Engineering & Management*, 4(1), 319-331.
- Mills, S., Yanes, M., & Caseeber, M. (2015). Perceptions of distance learning among faculty of a college of education. *Journal of Online Learning and Teaching*, 5(1), 277-298.
- Moore, G. C., & Benbasat, I. (1991). Development of an Instrument to Measure the Perceptions of Adopting an Information Technology Innovation. *Information Systems Research*, 2(3), 192-222.
- Moorman, C., Deshpande, R., and Zaltman, G. (1993). Factor Affecting Trust Marketing Research Relationships. *Journal of Marketing*, 57(1), 81-101.
- Munusamy, J., Sanmugam A.,, and Chelliah S.,(2012). A Study of Users and Non-Users of Internet Banking in: International Journal of Innovation, Management and Technology, 3(4), 13-21.
- Naqvi, A., & Naqvi, F. (2017). A Study on Learning Styles, Gender and Academic Performance of Post Graduate Management Students in India. *International Journal of Economics & Management Sciences*, 6, 398. doi: 10.4172/2162-6359.1000398.
- National Centre for Education Statistics. (2013). *Enrolment in Distance Education Course by State: Fall 2012*. Available: http://nces.ed.gov/pubsearch/pubsinfo.asp?pubid=2014023.

- Nimako, S., Gyamfi, N., & Wandaogou. A. (2013). Customer satisfaction with Internet banking Service quality in the Ghanaian banking industry. *International Journal of Scientific & Technology Research*, 2(7), 165-177
- Njaya, T. (2015). Women empowerment through open and distance learning in Zimbabwe. *Journal of Humanities and Social Science*, 20(2), 83-90.
- Northwest Center for Public Health. (2014). Effective Evaluation: A Toolkit for Evaluating Presentations and Trainings. Available at www.nwcphp.org.
- Ocak, M. (2015). Blend or not to blend: A study investigating faculty members' perceptions of blended teaching. *World Journal on Educational Technology*, 3(1), 196-210.
- Ong T. S., Hong, Y. H., Boon T. H., Patrick, C-H. S., & Tan, C. P. (2014). Factors That Affect the Adoption of Internet Banking in Malaysia. *International Business Management*, 8(2), 55-63,
- Oppenheim, A. N. (1992). Questionnaire Design, Interviewing and Attitude Measurement. New York: Pinter Publishers.
- Ostebo, M. T., & Haukanes, H. (2016). Shifting meanings of gender equality in development: Perspectives from Norway and Ethiopia. *Progress in Development Studies*, 16(1), 39-51.
- Pallant, J. (2016). SPSS Survival Manual: A Step by Step Guide to Data Analysis using SPSS for Windows (6th ed.). Berkshire: Open University Press, McGraw-Hill.
- Palloff, R., & Pratt, K. (2011). The Excellent Online Instructor: Strategies for Professional Development. Jossey-Bass: Wiley.
- Peach, H. J. Jr, & Bieber, J. P. (2015) Faculty and online education as a mechanism of power. *Distance Education*, 36(1), 26-40. DOI: 10.1080/01587919.2015.1019971.
- Picciano, A. G., Seaman, J., & Allen, I. (2016). Educational transformation through online learning: To be or not to be. *Journal of Asynchronous Learning Networks*, 14(4), 17-35.
- Pikkarainen, K., Pikkarainen, T., Karjaluoto, H. and Pahnila, S. (2006). The measurement of online and offline environments. *International Journal of Research in Marketing*, 20(2), 153-175.
- Pikkarainen, T., Pikkarainen, K., Karjaluoto, H., Pahnila, S. (2004). Consumer Acceptance of online banking: an extension of the technology acceptance model. *Internet Research*, 14(3), 224-235.
- Pinigas, M. (2014). E-learning Adoption by Lecturers in Selected Zimbabwe State Universities: An Application of Technology Acceptance Model. *Journal of Business Administration and Education*, 1(6), 15-33.

- Pink L.Q. & Darun, N. R. (2014). *Risk Assessment of Technology Change in Financial Sector*. Proceedings of 5th Asia-Pacific Business Research Conference, May 17 18, Hotel Istana, Kuala Lumpur, Malaysia (pp. 44-53).
- Powell, T. (2010). What Motivates Faculty to Adopt Distance Learning? Data Collected from a Faculty Development Workshop Called "Build a Web Course". *International Journal on Advances in Life Sciences*, 2(3 & 4), 173-187.
- Power, M., & Gould-Morven, A. (2011). Head of gold, feet of clay: The online learning paradox. *International Review of Research in Open and Distance Learning*, 12(2), 19-39.
- Ramady, M. A. (2010). Population and demographics: Saudization and the labour market. Springer: New York.
- Ramayah, T., Dahlan, N., Mohamad, O., Ling, K.P. (2002). The impact of external Variables on intention to use Internet banking: a preliminary analysis. *Proceedings of the MMU International Symposium on Information and Communications Technologies M2USIC'02 ICT: A Catalyst for K-Economy*, Kuala Lumpur (pp 13-23).
- Reynolds, M. (1997). Learning styles: a critique. Management Learning, 28, 115-133.
- Rhode, J., & Krishnamurthi, M. (2016). Preparing Faculty to Teach Online: Recommendations for Developing Self-Paced Training. *International Journal of Information and Education Technology*, 6(5), 376-382.
- Rigdon, E. E. (2012). Rethinking partial least squares path modelling: In praise of simple methods. *Long Range Planning*, 45(5–6), 341–358.
- Rogers, E. M. (1983). Diffusion of Innovations. New York, NY: Free Press.
- Rönkkö, M., & Evermann, J. (2013). A critical examination of common beliefs about partial least squares path modelling. *Organizational Research Methods*, 16(3), 425–448.
- Rubha, C. N., & Kothai, P. (2015). Learning to unlearn: antecedents of e-banking Adoption An Eclectic approach; *International Journal in Management and Social Science*, 3, 25-31.
- Rumble, G. (2004). Papers and Debates on the Economics and Costs of Distance and Online Learning, Oldenburg: Carl von Ossietzky Universitat.
- Ryland, E.K. (1992). International students in management from silence to synergy. *Journal of Management Education*, 16, 116-128.
- Saeed, M. (2015). Service Quality Factors Affecting Adoption of Internet Banking In Pakistan. *International Journal of Economics, Commerce and Management* 3(2), 114-119.

- Sahab, S. (2003). *Initiating distance education programs in Saudi Arabia using networked learning technology*. Paper presented at the ODLAA (Open and Distance Learning Association of Australia) Biennial Forum, Canberra, 1-4 October.
- Saleh, M. N. (2015). User Acceptance of online Technology with Special Reference to Internet Banking. *Journal of Theoretical and Applied Information Technology*, 73(1), 2098-2116.
- Sandelowski, M. (1995). Sample size in qualitative research. *Research in Nursing & Health*, 18(2), 179-183.
- Sankari, A., Ghazzawi, K., Danawi S. E., Danawi, S. E. N., & Arnaout, B. (2015). Factors Affecting The Adoption Of Internet Banking In Lebanon. *International Journal of Management*, 3(6), 75-86.
- Santouridisa, I., & Kyritsib., M (2014). Investigating the Determinants of Internet Banking Adoption in Greece. *Procedia Economics and Finance*, 9, 501-510.
- Saudi Gazette. (2015). Business: Kingdom's e-learning industry to reach \$125 million this year. Available at: http://saudigazette.com.sa/.
- Saunders, M., Lewis, P., & Thornhill, A. (2016). *Research Methods for Business Students* (7th edn.). Harlow: Pearson Education.
- Seguino, S., & Grown, C. (2006). Gender equity and globalization: macroeconomic policy for developing countries. *Journal of International Development*, 18(8), 1081-1104.
- Sekaran, U., & Bougie, R. (2016). *Research methods for business: a skill-building approach* (7th ed.). Haddington: John Wiley & Sons.
- Sen, G., & Nayar, A. (2013). Population, environment and human rights: a paradigm in the making. In: B. Cela, I. Dankelman and J. Stern, eds. *Powerful Synergies: Gender Equality, Economic Development and Environmental Sustainability*, New York: United Nations Development Programme.
- Shah S., & Mayekar, S. (2016). Enhancement of quality in Higher Education. *Indian Streams Research Journal*, 3(3), 1-5.
- Sheppard, B. H., Hartwick, J., & Warshaw, P. R. (1988). The Theory of Reasoned Action: A Meta-Analysis of Past Research with Recommendations for Modifications and Future Research. *Journal of Consumer Research*. *15*(3), 325–343.
- Shim, S., Lee, B., & Kim, S. L. (2018). Rival precedence and open platform adoption: An empirical analysis. *International Journal of Information Management*, 38, 217–231.

- Singh, G., & Hardaker, G. (2014). Barriers and enablers to adoption and diffusion of eLearning: a systematic review of the literature a need for an integrative approach. *Education + Training* 56(2/3), 105-121.
- Smith, M. A, & Kohn, A. (2013). Spatial and temporal scales of neuronal correlation in primary visual cortex. *Journal of Neuroscience*, 28, 12591–12603.
- Sohrabi, M. Juli Yew Mei, And Robert Jeyakumar Nathan(2013) Critical Success Factors for the adoption of e-Banking in Malaysia. *International Arab Journal of e-Technology*, 5(3), 22-32.
- Sorcinelli, M. D. (1999). Post-tenure Review Through Post-tenure Development: What Linking Senior Faculty and Technology Taught Us? *Innovative Higher Education* 24(1), 61-72.
- Stibe, A., & Cugelman, B. (2019). Social Influence Scale for Technology Design and Transformation. *Human-Computer Interaction*, *33*, 561-577.
- Suganthi, Balachandher, & Balachandran, (2001), 'Internet Banking Patronage', An Empirical Investigation of Malaysia', *Journal of Internet Banking and Commerce*, 6, 13-24.
- Sultan, N., Bunt-Kokhuis, S., Davidson, C., Sentini, A., & Weir, D. (2012). E-Learning in the Arab Gulf: responding to the changing world of education. In: Ramady MA (ed), *The GCC economies*, Springer, New York, pp 33–48. doi:10.1007/978-1-4614-1611-1_4.
- Taasim S. I. & Yusoff R. (2015). Are Malaysian Still Technophobia About E-Finance Product: A Literature Review: *Journal of Business and Social Development*, 1(3), 1-11
- Tabachnick, B. G., & Fidell, L. S. (2018). *Using multivariate statistics* (7th ed.). Boston: Pearson Education.
- Taleb, H. M. (2014a). The Potential for Integrating a Distance-Learning Initiative into the Curriculum of a Saudi Female Private College. *Journal of Modern Education Review*, 4(4), 282-298.Doi: 10.15341/jmer(2155-7993)/04.04.2014/006.
- Taleb, H. M. (2014b). The potential for launching a postgraduate course on sustainable energy in Saudi Arabia. *The Curriculum Journal*, 25(3), 432-458.
- Taylor, S., & Todd, P. (1995a). Decomposition and crossover effects in the theory of Planned behaviour: a study of Consumer adoption intentions. *International Journal of Research in Marketing*, 12, 137-155.
- Taylor, S., & Todd, P. (1995b). Understanding Information Technology Usage: A Test of Competing Models. *Information Systems Research*, 6(2), 144-176.

- Taylor, S., & Todd, P. (1995c). Assessing IT Usage: The Role of Prior Experience. *MIS Quarterly*, 19(4), 561-570.
- Tenenhaus, M., Esposito Vinzi, V., Chatelin, Y.-M., & Lauro, C. (2005). PLS path modelling. *Computational Statistics & Data Analysis*, 48(1), 159–205.
- Tirole, J. (2017). The theory of industrial organization. Cambridge, MA: MIT Press.
- Titan, M., Effendi, A., & Trivena, P. (2014). *Online Training Effect on Employee Skill Development*. Paper presented at the 2nd International Conference on Information and Communication Technology (pp. 288-291), Bandung, Indonesia.
- Tornatzky, L. G., & Klein, K. J. (1982). Innovation characteristics and innovation Adoption implementation: a met analysis of findings. *IEEE Transactions on Engineering Management*, 29, 28-45.
- Tracey, R. (2014). Outside the LMS Box: An interview with Ashley Tan. *E-Learn Magazine*, 4, Article No. 1. DOI: 10.1145/2602557.2602234.
- Trochim, W. M. K. (2016). Research Methods Knowledge Base. Atomic: Dog Publications.
- United Nations for Women (UN Women). (2014). The World Survey on the Role of Women in Development, on the theme of "gender equality and sustainable development". USA: United Nations publication.
- University World News. (2008). Saudi Arabia: E-learning Education Shake-Up, 2008. Available at: http://www.universityworldnews.com/.
- Venkatesh, V. (2000). Determinants of perceived ease of use: integrating control, Intrinsic motivation and Emotion into the technology acceptance model', *Information Systems Research*, 11 (4), 342-365.
- Venkatesh, V., & Davis, F. D. (1996). A Model of the Antecedents of Perceived Ease of Use: Development and Test. *Decision Sciences*. 27(3), 451–481.
- Venkatesh, V., & Davis, F.D. (2000). A theoretical extension of the technology Acceptance model: Four longitudinal Field studies. *Management Science*, 46(2), pp-186-204.
- Venkatesh, V., Morris, M. G., Davis, G. B., & Davis, F. D. (2003). User acceptance of information technology: Toward a unified view. *MIS Quarterly*, 27(3), 425–478.
- Venkatesh, V., Morris, M.G. (2000). Why don't men ever stop to ask for directions: Gender, social influence and Their role in technology acceptance and usage behavior. *MIS Quarterly*, 24(1), 115-139.

- Venkatesh, V., Thong, J. Y. L., & Xu, X. (2012). Consumer acceptance and use of information technology: Extending the unified theory of acceptance and use of technology. *Decision Science*, *36*(1), 157–178.
- Vijayan, P., and Shanmugam, B. (2003). Service Quality Evaluation of Internet Banking In Malaysia. *Journal of Internet Banking and Commerce*, 8(1), 77-91.
- Walker, T., & Montes, B. (2011). Creating a support community for new Faculty teaching online. Proceedings of 27th Annual Conference on Distance Teaching & Learning. Retrieved from http://www.luc.edu/cts/pdfs/.
- Wong, K. K.-K. (2013). Partial Least Squares Structural Equation Modelling (PLS-SEM) Techniques Using SmartPLS. *Marketing Bulletin*, 24(1), 1-32.
- Wynbrandt, J. (2010). A brief history of Saudi Arabia. New York: Infobase Publishing.
- Xu, H., Teo, H. –H., Tan, B. C. Y., & Agarwal, R. (2012). Research Note—Effects of Individual Self-Protection, Industry Self-Regulation, and Government Regulation on Privacy Concerns: A Study of Location-Based Services. *Information Systems Research* 23(4), 1342-1363.
- Yadav, M. S., & Pavlou, P. A. (2014). Marketing in Computer-MediatedEnvironments: Research Synthesis and New Directions. *Journal of Marketing*, 78(1), 20-40
- Yoon, H. S., & Steege, L. M. B. (2013). Development of a quantitative model of the impact of Customers' personality and perceptions on Internet banking use. *Computers in Human Behavior*, 29(3), 1133-1141.
- Yu. P. L., Balaji, M. S., & Khong, K. W. (2015). Building trust in internet banking: a Trustworthiness perspective. *Industrial Management & Data Systems*, 5(2), 235-252.
- Zapalska, A. M., Shuklian, S., Rudd, D., & Flanegin, F. (2015). Global and international issues in college education. *Culture and Religion Review Journal*, *4*, 146-156.